RECEIVED
02-12-2020
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA
OF WISCONSIN

2019AP002321-CR

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT IV
APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF WAUPACA COUNTY
HONORABLE VICKI L. CLUSSMAN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,
V.
JONATHAN N. REIHER,
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

BRIEF AND ARGUMENT OF APPELLANT

Michael J. Herbert Wisconsin State Bar No. 1059100 P.O. Box 4 Sun Prairie, Wisconsin 53590 (608) 217-7988 Attorney for Jonathan Reiher

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Does a person engage in criminally reckless conduct if the person engages in conduct that creates an unreasonable and/or substantial risk of death or great bodily harm but immediately engages in further conduct by taking affirmative steps for the purpose of eliminating the risk?

Mr. Reiher raised this issue in his motion for postconviction relief, arguing that his pleas to second degree recklessly endangering safety lacked a factual basis. Mr. Reiher argued that the facts of record do not support a finding that he created a substantial risk of death or great bodily harm by engaging in criminally reckless conduct.

The circuit court denied the motion after a postconviction motion hearing. Mr. Reiher filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF REASONS FOR ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Reiher does not request oral argument and does not recommend that the opinion be published.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Reiher was originally charged with three counts of First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, contrary to Wis. Stats. §941.30(1); two counts of misdemeanor battery, contrary to Wis. Stats. §940.19(1). Mr. Reiher was also charged with two counts of Criminal Damage to Property, two counts of Disorderly Conduct, and one count of Stalking.

The three counts of First Degree Recklessly
Endangering Safety were subsequently
amended to Second Degree Recklessly Endangering
Safety. A plea hearing was held on April 10, 2018.
Pursuant to the negotiated plea agreement, the defendant
entered pleas of no contest to counts one, two, and five
of the Amended Information. The remaining counts
were dismissed and read-in. At sentencing, the court
imposed a bifurcated sentence on counts one and two
(second degree recklessly endangering safety)
consisting of four years initial confinement and four
years of extended supervision on each count, to run
consecutively. On count five (battery), the court
imposed a concurrent sentence of nine months.

Mr. Reiher filed a motion for postconviction relief, seeking to withdraw his pleas to second degree

¹ All references to Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2017-2018 Edition unless otherwise specified.

5

_

recklessly endangering safety. The motion argued that the record did not establish a factual basis for the pleas because the facts do not establish that Mr. Reiher created an unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm by engaging in criminally reckless conduct.

The circuit court held a hearing. No testimony or evidence was introduced; the parties each submitted oral arguments. At the conclusion of the hearing the circuit court denied the motion. The court found a factual basis for the pleas.

Mr. Reiher subsequently filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to the criminal complaint, on July 23, 2016, Special Agents Liethen and Heimerl, WI DOJ Division of Criminal Investigations, Arson Unit, reported information provided by A.R.R. (DOC 5:4; Appendix B:4). On July 25, 2016, ARR came into the Waupaca County Sheriff's Office and made a report to Deputy Durrant. (DOC 5:4; Appendix B:4).

According to the complaint, ARR reported an incident that occurred on March 27, 2016, in which Jonathan Reiher struck her in the face and caused damage to her residence and belongings. (DOC 5:4; Appendix B:4). On April 25, 2016, Deputy Lewinski

reported an incident in which Jonathan Reiher had allegedly struck ARR, threw her to the ground, and kicked her. (DOC 5:5; Appendix B:5). Officer Flatoff reported an incident on June 2, 2016, in which Jonathan Reiher was allegedly harassing ARR and threatening to take their children. (DOC 5:8; Appendix B:8).

According to the complaint, ARR had filed an eviction action against Jonathan Reiher in Waupaca Co. case 16SC389. (DOC 5:9; Appendix B:9). According to the transcript of the hearing held on 06/09/2016, Mr. Reiher was ordered to vacate the premises at E1566 Erickson Rd., Waupaca, Wisconsin by 06/19/2016. (DOC 5:9; Appendix B:9).

On June 12, 2016, Deputy Lewinski was notified of a vandalism complaint being reported at E1566 Erickson Rd. (DOC 5:9; Appendix B:9). When Deputy Lewinski arrived at the residence, he was able to identify the property owner, ARR, as well as ARR's father, RJC. (DOC 5:9; Appendix B:9). Deputy Lewinski and Deputy Santiago entered the residence. (DOC 5:9; Appendix B:9). There was substantial damage to the kitchen area. (DOC 5:9; Appendix B:9). The cabinets and appliances had been smashed. (DOC 5:9; Appendix B:9). The bathroom had sustained severe damage. (DOC 5:9; Appendix B:9). There were several

holes punched in the drywall throughout the residence. (DOC 5:9; Appendix B:9).

Deputy Santiago entered the basement of the residence with RJC. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). He observed the outer metal shell of the furnace to be severely dented in. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). There were also pieces of PVC venting pipe torn off of the furnace. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10).

On July 22, 2016, Deputy Kraeger of the Waupaca County Sheriff received a complaint that a large explosion had occurred at E1566 Erickson Rd. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). Two males were injured; Deputy Kraeger observed that they had been severely burned. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). Deputy Kraeger questioned the complainant, SJB, and BLB. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10).

They advised that the house had been trashed inside and that they were working on cleaning it up and renovating. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). They had decided to cook brats and the men had turned on the gas to the residence. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). The gas was propane, and there was a large 500 gallon tank on the west side of the residence. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). When they began to smell gas, they immediately shut the gas off. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). The men instructed them not to light anything. (DOC 5:10;

Appendix B:10). The men went downstairs; a short time later a large explosion occurred. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10).

Deputy Kraeger spoke with ARR. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). ARR advised that the damage to the residence had been caused by her ex-boyfriend, Jonathan Reiher. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). ARR also advised that Reiher had never "outright admitted" to doing the damage, but had stated that she would be punished for evicting him. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). ARR further advised that she never went into the basement after Reiher moved out. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). ARR advised that Reiher had told her the gas was shut off when he moved out. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10). ARR advised that the furnace had been installed in 2014 after Mr. Reiher told her the furnace needed to be replaced. (DOC 5:10; Appendix B:10).

At the preliminary hearing, Deputy Durrant testified that he had listened to a telephone conversation between Mr. Reiher and ARR that occurred while Mr. Reiher was in the Wauapca County jail. (DOC 86:13; Appendix D:13). Deputy Durrant testified that he believed Mr. Reiher had admitted to causing the damage to the residence. (DOC 86:14; Appendix D:14). According to Deputy Durrant, Reiher had stated to ARR that he knew there was a gas leak and that he had shut

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 11 of 25

the gas off. (DOC 86:14; Appendix D:14). Deputy Durrant further testified that although he did not know for sure, he believed that the gas tank was empty when Mr. Reiher had left the residence. (DOC 86:16; Appendix D:16).

APPELLANT'S ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. Does a person engage in criminally reckless conduct if the person engages in conduct that creates an unreasonable and/or substantial risk of death or great bodily harm but immediately engages in further conduct by taking affirmative steps for the purpose of eliminating the risk?

A. Summary of the Argument

Mr. Reiher submits that the factual record in this case does not establish a factual basis for his pleas to second degree recklessly endangering safety, in violation of Wis. Stats. §941.30(2).

One of the essential elements of the offense is that the defendant endangered the safety of another human being by criminally reckless conduct. See WI JI-CRIMINAL 1347. In order to establish that element, among other things the facts must support a finding that the defendant engaged in conduct that created a risk of

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 12 of 25

death or great bodily harm to another person, and that the risk was unreasonable and substantial.

Assuming that the facts support a finding or inference that Mr. Reiher damaged the residence at E1566 Erickson Rd. and that he was aware that his conduct in causing the damage created a substantial and/or unreasonable risk of death or great bodily harm to another person, the factual record is insufficient to establish a factual basis for his pleas to second degree recklessly endangering safety.

The factual record indicates that Mr. Reiher took immediate steps to eliminate any risk he had caused in creating a gas leak in the house by turning off the gas. The facts of record indicate that when Mr. Reiher moved out of the residence after being evicted, there was no active risk as a result of damage to the furnace and/or venting pipes because the flow of gas had been stopped and the propane gas tank emptied.

Mr. Reiher's conduct is inconsistent with the concept of recklessly endangering safety. His entire course of conduct includes caution. His entire course of conduct includes his efforts to eliminate any risk he might have caused. By shutting off the gas and eliminating any active risk caused by a gas leak, his conduct was not criminally reckless.

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 13 of 25

B. Standard of Review

The withdrawal of a plea under the manifest injustice standard rests in the circuit court's discretion; the reviewing court will only reverse if the circuit court has failed to properly exercise its discretion. State v. McCallum, 208 Wis. 2d 463, ¶15, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997) An exercise of discretion based on an erroneous application of the law is an erroneous exercise of discretion. State v. McCallum, 208 Wis. 2d 463, ¶15, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997).

C. Relevant Law

When a defendant seeks to withdraw a plea after sentencing, he must establish by clear and convincing evidence that refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in a manifest injustice. State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906 (2006).

Wis. Stats. § 971.08(1)(b) provides that before a circuit court accepts a defendant's guilty plea, it must make such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged; establishing a sufficient factual basis requires a showing that the conduct which the defendant admits constitutes the offense charged. State v. Lackershire, 2007 WI 74, ¶33, 301 Wis.2d 418, 734 N.W.2d 23 (2007).

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 14 of 25

The purpose of the statutory requirement for a court inquiry as to basic facts is to protect the defendant who pleads guilty voluntarily and understanding the charge brought but not realizing that his conduct does not constitute the charged crime. State v. Lackershire, 2007 WI 74, ¶35, 301 Wis.2d 418, 734 N.W.2d 23 (2007). A defendant's failure to realize that the conduct to which he pleads guilty does not fall within the offense charged is incompatible with that plea being knowing and intelligent. State v. Lackershire, 2007 WI 74, ¶35, 301 Wis.2d 418, 734 N.W.2d 23 (2007).

A factual basis may be established through testimony by witnesses, reading of police reports or statements of evidence by the prosecutor. White v. State, 85 Wis.2d 485, 490, 271 N.W.2d 97 (1978). In applying the manifest injustice test on review, the court may consider the whole record since the issue is no longer whether the guilty plea should have been accepted, but rather whether there was an abuse of discretion in the trial court's denial of the motion to withdraw; facts adduced at the preliminary hearing and at the motion hearing may be considered in evaluating the denial of the motion to withdraw. White v. State, 85 Wis.2d 485, 491, 271 N.W.2d 97 (1978).

A person acts with criminal recklessness when he creates an unreasonable and substantial risk of death or

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 15 of 25

great bodily harm to another human being, and he is aware of that risk. State v. Blair, 164 Wis.2d 64, 71, 473 N.W.2d 566 (Ct.App.1991).

D. Argument

Mr. Reiher respectfully submits that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying his motion for postconviction relief to withdraw his pleas in this case. The circuit court concluded that denying Mr. Reiher's request to withdraw his pleas would not constitute a manifest injustice because the pleas were supported by a factual basis.

The facts forming the basis for the pleas were that Mr. Reiher had resided at E1566 Erickson Rd., and that the property was owned by ARR/RJC (the father of ARR). Mr. Reiher was evicted from the residence, and moved out in June, 2016. Law enforcement investigated a report of vandalism to the residence, and observed significant damage to the interior of the residence. Law enforcement observed damage to the furnace located in the basement, as well as the venting piping.

Subsequently, some individuals came to the residence in order to do repairs and renovation. They turned on the gas to cook on the stove, smelled gas, and turned it off. There was an explosion in which individuals were severely injured.

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 16 of 25

An officer listened to recordings of telephone calls placed from the Waupaca County jail after Mr. Reiher had been arrested and confined there. In one call, Mr. Reiher purported to admit to causing the damage in the residence. Mr. Reiher also indicated that he had shut the gas off in the house and emptied the propane gas tank before moving out.

Mr. Reiher was originally charged with multiple counts of first degree recklessly endangering safety. He eventually plead to an amended information and was convicted of two counts of second degree recklessly endangering safety pursuant to the plea.

1. Plea hearing.

The plea hearing was held on April 10, 2018. (DOC 90; Appendix E). The circuit court confirmed with Mr. Reiher that he had gone over the plea questionnaire form with his attorney and that he understood it. (DOC 90:4-5; Appendix E:4-5). The court also confirmed that Mr. Reiher had gone over the elements of the offense with his attorney. (DOC 90:6; Appendix E:6).

However, the court neglected to make a determination regarding factual basis. The court did not obtain any stipulation from counsel that a factual basis existed for the pleas. If a circuit court fails to establish a

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 17 of 25

factual basis for the offense pleaded to, a manifest injustice has occurred. State v. Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶17, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836 (2000).

2. Postconviction motion hearing

At the conclusion of the postconviction motion hearing, the circuit court concluded that a factual basis existed for Mr. Reiher's pleas to second degree recklessly endangering safety based on the criminal complaint, testimony at the preliminary hearing, "as well as the motions that were addressed throughout this case." (DOC 92:15-16; Appendix F:15-16).

They key finding made by the circuit court in response to Mr. Reiher's motion and argument that he did not engage in criminally reckless conduct, was that even if he had shut the gas off, it was reasonable to believe (and foreseeable) that at some point the gas would be turned back on, and that event could cause great bodily harm. (DOC 92:16; Appendix F:16). Respectfully, Mr. Reiher disagrees with the conclusion of the circuit court.

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 18 of 25

3. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying Mr. Reiher's motion for postconviction relief.

The withdrawal of a plea under the manifest injustice standard rests in the circuit court's discretion; the reviewing court will only reverse if the circuit court has failed to properly exercise its discretion. State v. McCallum, 208 Wis. 2d 463, ¶15, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997) An exercise of discretion based on an erroneous application of the law is an erroneous exercise of discretion. State v. McCallum, 208 Wis. 2d 463, ¶15, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997).

One of the purposes of the court's obligation to establish a factual basis for the plea is to protect the defendant who pleads guilty voluntarily and understanding the charge brought but not realizing that his conduct does not constitute the charged crime. State v. Lackershire, 2007 WI 74, ¶35, 301 Wis.2d 418, 734 N.W.2d 23 (2007).

Mr. Reiher respectfully submits that the conduct documented by the record does not constitute the offense of second degree recklessly endangering safety. Mr. Reiher's conduct, considered in its entirety, did not create a substantial and unreasonable risk of death or great bodily harm to another human being.

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 19 of 25

In its decision to deny his motion, the circuit court found that Mr. Reiher's conduct "could" cause great bodily harm. (DOC 92:16; Appendix F:16).

However, criminally reckless conduct is not based on what is possible or what "could" happen. Instead, the conduct must be such as to create a risk that is substantial and unreasonable. The circuit court made no specific finding that after Mr. Reiher shut off the gas, there remained an unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm to another human being due to the damage he had caused.

Mr. Reiher respectfully submits that the circuit court erroneously applied the law, and accordingly, the circuit court's denial of his motion to withdraw his pleas was an erroneous exercise of discretion.

The fact that Mr. Reiher did indeed shut off the gas at E1566 Erickson Rd. prior to moving out does not appear to be in dispute. Deputy Durrant testified at the preliminary hearing that he listened to a conversation from the Waupaca County jail in which Mr. Reiher told ARR that he had shut the gas off. (DOC 86:14; Appendix D:14). According to Deputy Durrant, ARR had told investigators that Mr. Reiher had run the propane tank dry. (DOC 86:16; Appendix D:16). During his allocution, Mr. Reiher stated that he "shut everything off" and "I did everything I could possibly

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 20 of 25

do to make sure nothing happened." (DOC 91:40; Appendix H:40).

It is also worth noting that when Deputy Santiago first discovered the basement damage, including the furnace and venting pipes, he did not indicate that he noticed a gas leak. According to the criminal complaint and preliminary hearing testimony, there was no mention made of a gas leak or the odor of gas when the damage was investigated.

According to the complaint, ARR had stated that Mr. Reiher had told her the electricity and gas were shut off when he moved out. (DOC 5:11; Appendix B:11). Deputy Durrant testified that ARR had given a statement in which she had indicated that Mr. Reiher told her that he had shut all the utilities off when he moved out. (DOC 86:16; Appendix D:16). During his allocution, Mr. Reiher stated that he had informed ARR. (DOC 91:40-41; Appendix H:40-41).

Did Mr. Reiher really create a substantial and unreasonable risk of death or great bodily harm when he damaged the furnace and caused a gas leak, but then turned off the gas (stopping the flow of gas)? Was it foreseeable that the propane tank would be refilled and that the gas would be turned back on before the furnace and piping was repaired?

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 21 of 25

Mr. Reiher would respectfully submit that the answer is 'no.' Mr. Reiher took affirmative steps to eliminate whatever risk he had created. He could not have reasonably expected that the propane tank would be refilled and the gas flow turned back on before the damage had been repaired.

The elements of the offense of conviction require that Mr. Reiher created a risk of death or great bodily harm to another human being, that the risk was unreasonable and substantial, and that he was aware of the risk. WIS JI-CRIMINAL 1347. By taking the affirmative step of shutting off the gas, Mr. Reiher's conduct did not create such a risk, nor was the recreation of the risk foreseeable. Moreover, if the existence of the risk was determined by someone subsequently reversing Mr. Reiher's actions of shutting off the gas, it cannot be said that he was aware of the risk at the time of his conduct.

If a person places a "MacGyver bomb" in a mailbox, it is foreseeable that it might explode. See State v. Brulport, 202 Wis. 2d 505, 551 N.W.2d 824 (Ct.App.1996). If a person hits someone over the head with a loaded gun, it is foreseeable that the gun might discharge. See State v. Blair, 164 Wis.2d 64, 473 N.W.2d 566 (Ct.App.1991). If a person throws a rock at the head of another person, it is foreseeable that the rock

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 22 of 25

might strike and injure the other person. See <u>State v. Williams</u>, 190 Wis. 2d 1, 527 N.W.2d 338 (Ct.App.1994). If a person with a prohibited BAC gets behind the wheel, it is foreseeable that the person might cause an accident with injuries. See <u>State v. Lechner</u>, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998).

However, if a person damages a residential furnace and vents, but then turns off the gas flow, empties the gas tank, and tells the owner, it cannot be said that the person has created an unreasonable risk of great bodily harm or death and is aware of that risk. In contrast to <u>Blair</u>, it would take a bit of clairvoyance to recognize that someone might refill the gas tank and turn on the flow of gas before repairing the furnace damage. See <u>State v. Blair</u>, 164 Wis.2d 64, 73, 473 N.W.2d 566 (Ct.App.1991).

In further contrast to the above referenced cases, in the present case there was an intervening factor which changed the nature and character of the situation that had been created by Mr. Reiher. The existence of the intervening factor was not reasonably predictable or foreseeable. Without the intervening factor, it is unlikely that there would have been an explosion at E1566 Erickson Rd. on the day of July 22, 2016.

Mr. Reiher's own conduct did not create an unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great

Case 2019AP002321 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-12-2020 Page 23 of 25

bodily harm. Since the explosion hinged on someone else filling up the propane tank and someone else turning on the gas flow, it cannot be said that Mr. Reiher was aware that his own conduct created such a risk. The circuit court made no factual basis determination at the plea hearing, and arguably applied the incorrect standard at the postconviction motion hearing. If the correct legal standard is applied to the totality of facts, Mr. Reiher's conduct does not provide a factual basis for his convictions on two counts of second degree recklessly endangering safety. By clear and convincing evidence, it would constitute a manifest injustice not to permit him to withdraw his pleas to those counts of conviction. State v. Black, 2001 WI 31, ¶9, 242 Wis. 2d 126, 624 N.W.2d 363 (2001).

CONCLUSION TO BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

Mr. Reiher respectfully requests that this court reverse the denial of his postconviction motion, vacate the judgment of conviction, and withdraw his plea in this case to one count of second degree recklessly endangering safety.