RECEIVED

04-13-2020

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS  
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
C O U R T O F A P P E A L S  
DISTRICT IV

---

Case No. 2019AP2321-CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JONATHAN N. REIHER,

Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND  
ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION  
RELIEF, ENTERED IN WAUPACA COUNTY, THE  
HONORABLE VICKI L. CLUSSMAN, PRESIDING

---

**BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

---

JOSHUA L. KAUL  
Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER  
Assistant Attorney General  
State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice  
Post Office Box 7857

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

### ARGUMENT

#### **The record establishes that a factual basis exists for Reiher's pleas.**

Reiher submits that the facts of record do not establish a factual basis for his pleas to two counts of second-degree recklessly endangering safety. (Reiher's Br. 10.) According to Reiher, his conduct did "not create a substantial and unreasonable risk of death or great bodily harm to another human being." (Reiher's Br. 17.) Reiher is incorrect.

#### **A. After sentencing, a defendant bears a high burden of showing that there was not a sufficient factual basis for his plea.**

Prior to accepting a guilty plea, the circuit court must determine that a sufficient factual basis exists for the plea, that is, that "a crime has been committed and it is probable that the defendant committed it." *State v. Payette*, 2008 WI App 106, ¶ 7, 313 Wis. 2d 39, 756 N.W.2d 423. A sufficient factual basis exists "if an inculpatory inference can be drawn from the complaint or facts admitted to by the defendant even though it may conflict with an exculpatory inference

elsewhere in the record and the defendant later maintains that the exculpatory inference is the correct one.” *State v. Black*, 2001 WI 31, ¶ 16, 242 Wis. 2d 126, 624 N.W.2d 363; *see also Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d 714, ¶ 18 (“a court may look at the totality of the circumstances when reviewing a defendant’s motion to withdraw a guilty plea to determine whether a defendant has agreed to the factual basis underlying the guilty plea.”). “The totality of the circumstances includes the plea hearing record, the sentencing hearing record, as well the defense counsel’s statements concerning the factual basis presented by the state, among other portions of the record.” *Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d 714, ¶ 18. “All that is required is for the factual basis to be developed on the record--several sources can supply the facts.” *Id.* ¶ 20.

“The failure to establish a sufficient factual basis for a guilty plea is one type of manifest injustice that justifies plea withdrawal.” *State v. Scott*, 2017 WI App 40, ¶ 30, 376 Wis. 2d 430, 899 N.W.2d 728. “The defendant bears the burden of showing that there was an insufficient factual basis for the plea by clear and convincing proof.” *Id.*

**B. Several sources supply the factual basis for Reiher’s pleas.**

Reiher argues that the circuit court failed to find at the plea hearing that a factual basis exists for his pleas, and therefore, he is entitled to relief. (Reiher’s Br. 15–16.) The State disagrees. In this case, the totality of the circumstances—(*Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d 714, ¶ 18)—which in this case includes the complaint, testimony at the preliminary hearing, the plea questionnaire, the plea colloquy, and Reiher’s statements at sentencing—establish that a factual basis exists for Reiher’s pleas of second-degree recklessly endangering safety.

The complaint provided that ARR told police that the victims had been renovating the property due to damage to

the property that Reiher caused. (R. 5:12.) ARR also told police that what she “gathered from Reiher was that she would be punished for evicting him out of the house.” (R. 5:13.) DRR told police that “there had been damage done to the furnace and that was the source location for the gas leak.” (R. 5:12.)

At the preliminary hearing, Durrant testified another officer determined the explosion occurred as a result of damage to “the LP or the gas pipe [that] comes into the furnace and connects to the regulator.” (R. 86:11–12.) And, that “[i]t had been damaged by somebody other than the explosion. It appeared to have been done by either a tool of some kind, possible hammer, or crow bar, something in that aspect.” (R. 86:12.) Durrant also testified that Reiher “knew that there was a gas leak there, he actually shut the gas off.” (R. 86:14.)

The plea questionnaire provided that “if the judge accepts my plea, the judge will find me guilty of the crime(s) to which I am pleading based upon the facts in the criminal complaint and/or the preliminary examination and/or as stated in court.” (R. 24:2.)

During the plea colloquy, the court asked Reiher’s attorney if he believed that Reiher “understands the nature of the charges against him, the elements of the offenses, and he possible penalties he’s facing.” (R. 90:7.) His attorney replied that he did. (*Id.*) In *Thomas*, the court held “that a defendant does not need to admit to the factual basis in his or her own words; the defense counsel’s statements suffice.” 232 Wis. 2d 714, ¶ 18.

Finally, Reiher admitted at the sentencing hearing that “I am the snowball that started the avalanche, and I understand that,” and that “I understand that what happened was terrible and I’m actually the person that’s culpable.” (R. 91:41, 42.)

The postconviction court (which was also the trial court) was convinced that after reviewing the complaint, the testimony at the preliminary hearing, and the motions addressed throughout the case, “that there were factual bases that were presented to the Court that would satisfy the elements of the offenses.” (R. 92:15–16.) The evidence, according to the court, showed that it was foreseeable that great bodily harm would occur from Reiher’s actions. (R. 92:16.) This is not clearly erroneous. The totality of the circumstances establishes a factual basis for Reiher’s pleas.

But Reiher argues that his “conduct is inconsistent with the concept of recklessly endangering safety.” (Reiher’s Br. 11.) Reiher notes that second-degree recklessly endangering safety has two elements: (1) the defendant endangered the safety of another human being; and (2) the defendant endangered the safety of another by criminally reckless conduct.<sup>4</sup> (Wis. JI–Criminal 1347 (2015); R. 24:5–6.) “Criminally reckless conduct” is defined as conduct that creates a risk of death or great bodily harm to another person; the risk of death or great bodily harm was unreasonable and substantial; and the defendant was aware that his conduct created the unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm. (*Id.*) “Great bodily harm” is defined as serious bodily injury; injury which creates a substantial risk of death, or which causes serious permanent disfigurement, or which causes a permanent or protracted loss or impairment

---

<sup>4</sup> Under Wis. Stat. § 939.24(1), “criminal recklessness” means that the actor creates an unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm to another human being and the actor is aware of that risk.” Under Wis. Stat. § 939.24(2), “if criminal recklessness is an element of a crime in chs. 939 to 951, the recklessness is indicated by the term “reckless” or “recklessly”.



of the function of any bodily member or organ, or other serious bodily injury. (*Id.*)

Reiher argues that “[b]y shutting off the gas and eliminating any active risk caused by a gas leak, his conduct was not criminally reckless.” (Reiher’s Br. 11.) And, therefore, his conduct did “not create a substantial and unreasonable risk of death or great bodily harm to another human being.” (Reiher’s Br. 17.) Reiher’s argument continues that the postconviction court “erroneously applied the law” because it found that Reiher’s conduct “could” cause great bodily harm, as opposed finding that his conduct “create[d] a risk that is substantial and unreasonable.” (Reiher’s Br. 18 (citing R. 92:16).)

But that is not an accurate description of the court’s finding. The court found that even if the gas was turned off, “that it was reasonable to believe that it would be at some point turned back on.” (R. 92:16.) The court found that it was foreseeable upon the gas being turned on “that that event could cause great bodily harm, which in fact it did cause in this particular case. There was great bodily harm caused to the victims.” (*Id.*) Further, Reiher admitted at the sentencing hearing that “I am the snowball that started the avalanche, and I understand that,” and that “I understand that what happened was terrible and I’m actually the person that’s culpable.” (R. 91:41, 42.) This is certainly an admission by Reiher that not only “was [he] aware that [his] conduct created the unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm,” Wis. JI–Criminal 1347 (2015), but that he should be held accountable for it.

But Reiher posits the following two questions to this Court: (1) “Did Mr. Reiher really create a substantial and unreasonable risk of death or great bodily harm when he damaged the furnace and caused a gas leak, but then turned off the gas (stopping the flow of gas)”; and (2) “Was it foreseeable that the propane tank would be refilled and that



the gas would be turned back on before the furnace and piping was repaired?” (Reiher’s Br. 19.) The answers to these questions, are Yes.

As the sentencing court acknowledged, Reiher’s damage to the house, which was caused by his anger, “then led to this explosion.” (R. 91:46.) And that these “reckless actions caused serious harm to the victims.” (R. 91:51.) As the State argued at the postconviction hearing, whether Reiher shut off the gas or not, a reasonable person would believe that at some point, the gas would be turned back on. (R. 92:9.) And, that it was foreseeable “that a gas leak like that into a home would cause great bodily harm.” (R. 92:10.) Finally, as the postconviction court determined, “even if the gas was turned off, . . . it was reasonable to believe that it would be at some point turned back on. And that it was foreseeable that this event would take place.” (R. 92:16.)

Reiher next argues that “there was *an intervening factor* which changed the nature and character of the situation that had been created by Mr. Reiher.” (Reiher’s Br. 21 (emphasis added).) And, the intervening factor—namely, the victims turning on the gas—was “not reasonably predictable or foreseeable.” (Reiher’s Br. 21.) But as argued above (1) Reiher admitted at sentencing that he was “the snowball that started the avalanche,” and (2) as the State argued at the postconviction hearing and the court agreed, a reasonable person would believe that at some point, the gas would be turned back on and an event like this would occur. (R. 91:41; 92:9–10, 16.) Finally, a no contest plea “waives all nonjurisdictional defects, including constitutional claims.” *State v. Multaler*, 2002 WI 35, ¶ 54, 252 Wis. 2d 54, 643 N.W.2d 437. By pleading no-contest and by admitting his conduct at the sentencing hearing, this argument is waived.

In this case, the complaint, testimony at the preliminary hearing, the plea questionnaire, the colloquy, and Reiher’s statements at the sentencing hearing show that a

factual basis exists for Reiher's pleas. Under the totality of the circumstances and contrary to Reiher's argument (Reiher's Br. 20–21), his conduct *did* create an unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm. *See Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d 714, ¶¶ 18, 23; Wis. JI–Criminal 1347 (2015). Therefore, the circuit court's refusal to allow Reiher to withdraw his plea did not result in a manifest injustice.

### CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm Reiher's judgment of conviction and order denying his motion for postconviction relief.